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Report of Independent Auditors 

To the Board of Trustees 

Mills College 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mills College (the “College”), which 

comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, and the related statements of activities 

and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 

the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the College's 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the College's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Mills College as of June 30, 2021, and the changes in its net assets and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America. 

Other Matters 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of 

Federal Regulations (“CFR”) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 

Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the schedule of financial responsibility ratios are presented 

for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such 

information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has 

been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 

additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 

accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 

themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 

in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in 

relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

Prior Period Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the College as of June 30, 2020, were audited by other auditors whose 

report dated January 28, 2021, except as to Note 22, which is as of March 25, 2021, expressed an 

unmodified opinion of those statements. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 

December 17, 2021, on our consideration of the College’s internal control over financial reporting and 

on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, 

and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 

That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

in considering the College’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

San Francisco, California 

December 17, 2021 

 



 

 

Financial Statements 



Mills College 

4 See accompanying notes. 

Statements of Financial Position 
June 30, 2021 and 2020 

2021 2020

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 3,836,933$        2,045,266$        

Restricted cash -                     1,199,515          

Student accounts and loans receivable, net (Note 3) 2,778,883          2,548,878          

Government grants and other receivables, net 1,296,129          1,197,787          

Inventories and other assets 1,535,688          1,675,196          

Contributions and trusts receivable, net (Note 4) 14,399,722        14,143,230        

Investments (Note 5) 227,905,812      189,138,211      

Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 7) 95,006,130        99,866,786        

Collections (Note 8) 3,362,169          3,408,669          

Total assets 350,121,466$    315,223,538$    

LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,084,273$        3,974,964$        

Contract liability - student deposits 605,414             407,615             

Other liabilities 7,715,414          3,397,614          

Lines of credit (Note 9) 6,999,800          7,999,800          

Annuity and life income liability 1,145,357          1,154,036          

Government advances for student loans (Note 3) 148,292             238,575             

Bonds payable (Note 10) 24,253,909        25,583,745        

Total liabilities 46,952,459        42,756,349        

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 64,091,751        70,569,068        

With donor restrictions (Note 11)

Time or purpose 82,029,672        46,170,827        

Perpetual 157,047,584      155,727,294      

Total net assets with donor restrictions 239,077,256      201,898,121      

Total net assets 303,169,007      272,467,189      

Total liabilities and net assets 350,121,466$    315,223,538$    
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assets increased by 35 million, 39 million increase in the endowment, 4.7 million depreciation (loss of assets), 1.8 million increase in cash on hand
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This 2 million increase is mostly a $1.7 million payment that needs to be made to Noodle Partners. (see note 16 on page 33) How much revenue is this contract generating?  
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This 4.3 million increase in "other liabilities" is a payment that Mills has agreed to pay to First Republic Bank in exchange for reduction in bonds payable.  (see note 20 on page 35)  That has not yet happened.  Why do this when you are cash poor?  Why not just issue new bonds to pay off the old and payoff the line of credit?

Matt
Highlight

Matt
Highlight

Matt
Sticky Note
paid down 2.3 million in debt.  great
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Total net assets increased by 31 million but unrestricted net assets decreased by $6.5 million.  We see why that happened on the statement of activities below.

Cash flow must have been excellent: cash on hand increased and debt decreased.  We see this on the cash flow statement below
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Statements of Activities 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 (with comparative 2020 totals) 

Without Donor With Donor 2021 2020

Restrictions Restrictions Totals Totals

REVENUE AND GAINS

Tuition and fees, net (Note 12) 15,628,596$    -$                 15,628,596$    19,426,275$    

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 4,408,017        -                   4,408,017        8,939,411        

Contributions available for operations 2,680,520        2,011,006        4,691,526        10,405,059      

Government contracts and grants 6,919,270        -                   6,919,270        9,311,431        

Investment returns allocated to operations 11,084,140      926,690           12,010,830      12,258,989      

Other, net 10,840,771      260,916           11,101,687      6,450,187        

Total revenue and gains 51,561,314      3,198,612        54,759,926      66,791,352      

Net assets released from restrictions for operations 4,209,000        (4,209,000)       -                   -                   

Total revenue and gains, and other support 55,770,314      (1,010,388)       54,759,926      66,791,352      

EXPENSES

Instruction 17,062,580      -                   17,062,580      16,934,006      

Research 606,912           -                   606,912           1,312,463        

Academic support 9,333,239        -                   9,333,239        6,956,277        

Student services 9,142,784        -                   9,142,784        9,581,902        

Institutional support 14,302,836      -                   14,302,836      13,114,769      

Public service 3,682,362        -                   3,682,362        2,913,667        

Auxiliary enterprises 9,975,798        -                   9,975,798        9,611,532        

Total expenses 64,106,511      -                   64,106,511      60,424,616      

Changes in net assets from operations (8,336,197)       (1,010,388)       (9,346,585)       6,366,736        

NONOPERATING ACTIVITIES

Nonoperating contributions 26,500             705,048           731,548           399,851           

Provision for uncollectible pledges (188,179)          -                   (188,179)          (35,444)            

Investment return, net of allocation to operations (9,255,675)       46,700,040      37,444,365      (9,847,527)       

Actuarial adjustment -                   2,060,416        2,060,416        1,664,850        

Other nonoperating revenue 253                  -                   253                  84,874             

Net assets released from donor restrictions 

for nonoperating 11,275,981      (11,275,981)     -                   -                   

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (6,477,317)       37,179,135      30,701,818      (1,366,660)       

NET ASSETS, at beginning of year 70,569,068      201,898,121    272,467,189    273,833,849    

NET ASSETS, at end of year 64,091,751$    239,077,256$  303,169,007$  272,467,189$  
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net tuition revenue down 3.8 million, Aux enterprises, mostly room and board, down 4.5 million.  This is pretty typical for the COVID effect: large losses in room and board because instruction was mostly online and losses in tuition and fees, but smaller by %.  
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Down 2.4 million.  Had 5.8 million in covid relief last year. (see note 21, page 35)  So is there a new grant the college received this year?  It would be about 3.4 million.   Is that new grant a one year thing or permanent? 
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money coming from the endowment for operations.  It is here (11 million) and partially in the row "net assets released from restrictions for operations".   Total revenue coming from the endowment is $12.3 million (see note 6 on page 26)
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This is restricted money that became unrestricted - comes from restricted donations and the endowment as part of the endowment spending policy.
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56 million in operating revenue is fantastic relative to other similar schools.  It is also higher than Mills' revenue in both 2019 and 2018. $56 million in operating revenue would put Mills at about rank 11 out of the 138 schools that offer a PhD, MA, or BA and enroll between 800 and 1200 students.
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Administrative spending = 9.3 + 14.3 = 23.6 million.  Mills spends 17 million on instruction.  That is backward.  The college should spend more on instruction than administration.  

 Administrative spending is about $10 million higher than comparable schools.  Mills' current administrative spending is $6million higher than it was in 2016.  Reversing that alone would fix Mill's structural deficit.

Note that administrative spending does NOT include: admissions, financial aid, or the registrar.  Those are expenses in "student services" along with student health services, counseling, career services, student organizations, etc.  Mills does NOT need to cut any expenses here.  In fact, it could increase spending on these if it cut administrative spending.

Administrative spending includes: the president's office, provost's office, all deans and their staff, all VPs, advancement, business office, legal services, accounting, bursar, IT 
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Auxiliary enterprise spending is too high.  Problem here with the food contract.  It's about 1.8 million too high.  How is it possible that Mills spent more on auxiliary enterprises in 2021, when the school was mostly online instruction only?  Need to check that.  Could be the payment to FRB, which is allocated by % across functions
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This is an important number.  Sort of the bottom line for the university.  -8.3 million looks bad but there are a number of weird things going on here:
1. Covid cost the school 8.3 million in tuition, room and board.
2. Agreed to pay 4.3 million to First Republic Bank
3. Sold the first folio for 8.6 million
4. Received a new grant of 3.4 million (is it a one time thing?)

With all of this taken out, the college is looking at a deficit of -4.3 million (if the new grant is permanent) or -7.7 million if the grant is one time thing and assuming tuition, room, board revenue return to 2020 levels. 

Note that this is not the same as a budget deficit.  This deficit includes 4.7 million in depreciation expense, which is not a cash expense.  So Mills' cash flow is much better than what is shown on the statement of activities.  To understand Mills' cash flow, we look at the cash flow statement below.

Mills' deficit can be more than corrected with cost cuts in administration and auxiliary enterprises.
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Mills College 
Statement of Activities (Continued) 
Year Ended June 30, 2020 

6 See accompanying notes. 

Without Donor With Donor 2020

Restrictions Restrictions Totals

REVENUE AND GAINS

Tuition and fees, net (Note 12) 19,426,275$      -$                   19,426,275$      

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 8,939,411          -                     8,939,411          

Contributions available for operations 3,190,619          7,214,440          10,405,059        

Government contracts and grants 9,311,431          -                     9,311,431          

Investment returns allocated to operations 11,242,266        1,016,723          12,258,989        

Other, net 6,436,589          13,598               6,450,187          

Total revenue and gains 58,546,591        8,244,761          66,791,352        

Net assets released from restrictions for operations 4,258,231          (4,258,231)         -                     

Total revenue and gains, and other support 62,804,822        3,986,530          66,791,352        

EXPENSES

Instruction 16,934,006        -                     16,934,006        

Research 1,312,463          -                     1,312,463          

Academic support 6,956,277          -                     6,956,277          

Student services 9,581,902          -                     9,581,902          

Institutional support 13,114,769        -                     13,114,769        

Public service 2,913,667          -                     2,913,667          

Auxiliary enterprises 9,611,532          -                     9,611,532          

Total expenses 60,424,616        -                     60,424,616        

Changes in net assets from operations 2,380,206          3,986,530          6,366,736          

NONOPERATING ACTIVITIES

Nonoperating contributions 111,400             288,451             399,851             

Provision for uncollectible pledges (35,444)              -                     (35,444)              

Investment return, net of allocation to operations (11,151,056)       1,303,529          (9,847,527)         

Actuarial adjustment -                     1,664,850          1,664,850          

Other nonoperating revenue 84,874               -                     84,874               

Net assets released from donor restrictions 

for nonoperating 10,311,080        (10,311,080)       -                     

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 1,701,060          (3,067,720)         (1,366,660)         

NET ASSETS, at beginning of year 68,868,008        204,965,841      273,833,849      

NET ASSETS, at end of year 70,569,068$      201,898,121$    272,467,189$    
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Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Changes in total net assets 30,701,818$     (1,366,660)$       

Adjustments to reconcile changes in total net assets to net cash

used in operating activities:

Depreciation 4,676,066         4,723,931          

Net gains on investments (49,455,195)      (2,109,944)         

Actuarial adjustment (2,060,416)        (1,664,850)         

Donated art and equipment (21,500)             (103,900)            

Gain on disposal of property, plant, and equipment (196,968)           -                     

Allowance for uncollectible student accounts receivable 309,835            37,914               

Allowance for uncollectible loans receivable 25,615              77,125               

Allowance for uncollectible other receivable (4,986)               30,794               

Allowance for uncollectible pledges (10,964)             (35,444)              

Amortization of bond premium and discount 22,703              22,703               

Accretion of asset retirement obligation liability 1,065                8,360                 

Contributions restricted for long-term investment (560,239)           (1,726,025)         

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Student accounts receivable (854,041)           (396,797)            

Government grants and other receivable (25,356)             350,616             

Inventories and other assets 139,508            (47,417)              

Contributions and trusts receivable 1,328,878         (695,790)            

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,109,309         (1,558,666)         

Contract liability - student deposits 197,799            11,575               

Other liabilities 4,316,735         35,216               

Annuity and life income liability (8,679)               (62,883)              

Net cash used in operating activities (9,369,013)        (4,470,142)         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant, and equipment (480,411)           (814,663)            

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 861,969            -                     

Purchases of investments (78,836,087)      (13,206,188)       

Proceeds from sales of investments 90,009,691       20,482,683        

Repayment of student loans receivable 288,586            231,502             

Net cash provided by investing activities 11,843,748       6,693,334          

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Contributions restricted for long-term investment 560,239            1,726,025          

Change in government advances for student loans (90,283)             (66,320)              

Payments from line of credit (1,000,000)        (1,000,000)         

Payments on bonds payable (1,352,539)        (1,313,150)         

Net cash used in financing activities (1,882,583)        (653,445)            

NET INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 592,152            1,569,747          

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of year 3,244,781         1,675,034          

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of year 3,836,933$       3,244,781$        

SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest 972,045$          1,506,479$        

RECONCILIATION OF CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

Cash and cash equivalents 3,836,933$       2,045,266$        

Restricted cash -                    1,199,515          

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 3,836,933$       3,244,781$        
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Start with the change in net assets and then:
1.  add back in expenses that are not cash expenses, like depreciation
2. add back in expenses that have not yet been paid
3. subtract revenues that have not been received
4. take out investment activities, to be recorded in "cash flows from investing activities"
5. take out contributions for long term investment, to be recorded in "cash flows from financing activities".

After doing this you get to "net cash used in operating activities".


Note that this does NOT include cash coming in from the endowment.  We took it out in 4 and net assets released from restriction canceled out in the change in net assets calculation.  This generally means that schools with large endowments, like Mills, will post a negative number for "net cash used in operating activities".  This is normal.
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Do not be alarmed by a negative number here.  Eric Roberts cited this number in his declaration in a misleading way. This number is negative for schools that have large endowments, unless they are not using their endowment for operations.  A negative number here is normal.

Net cash used in operating activities excludes cash received from the endowment.  Remember investment return is subtracted out and net assets released from restriction cancels out in net assets calculation.  Cash coming from the endowment is in "cash flows from investing activities".
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about $12 million in cash coming in from the endowment.  Some of the money used to purchase investments comes from contributions restricted for long term investment, which is in the next section.  

The exact amount of cash coming from the endowment is 12.3 million.  See note 6 on page 26
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But Mills did sell the first folio.  That generated 8.6 million in cash.  Had they not sold it and maintained the same spending, Mills would have experienced negative cash flow of -5.7 million.  

The point is, however, that Mills should not be spending like this.  It can resolve a $6 million deficit by moving forward with even half of the cuts necessary to bring its administrative spending in line with peer institutions.
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Notes to Financial Statements 
 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION 

Mills College (the "College") is a private, nonprofit liberal arts college founded in 1852 and based in Oakland, 

California. The College provides education and training services for undergraduate women and gender non-binary 

students and has graduate programs for students of all genders, and performs training and other programs under 

grants, contracts, and similar agreements with its sponsors, primarily departments, and agencies of the United 

States government, and private donors. 

NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 

PRACTICES 

The College maintains its accounts in accordance with the principles and practices of fund accounting. Fund 

accounting is the procedure by which resources for various purposes are classified for accounting purposes in 

accordance with activities or objectives specified by donors. 

These financial statements, which are presented on the accrual basis of accounting, have been prepared to focus 

on the College as a whole and to present balances and transactions according to the existence or absence of donor-

imposed restrictions. 

Net assets and changes therein are classified as follows: 

Net assets without donor restrictions – Net assets available for use in general operations and not subject to 

donor-imposed stipulations. Net assets without donor restrictions may be designated by the Board either for specific 

purposes or for board designated endowment. 

Net assets with donor restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may, or will be, met 

by either actions of the College and/or the passage of time. Also included in this category are net assets subject to 

donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained in perpetuity by the College. Generally, the donors of these 

assets permit the College to use all or part of the income earned on related investments for general or specific 

purposes. 

Revenues – Revenues are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless use of the related 

assets is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in net assets without donor 

restrictions. Gains and losses on investments and other assets or liabilities are reported as increases or decreases 

in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulation or by law. 

Expirations of restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor stipulated purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated 

time period has elapsed) are reported as reclassifications between the applicable classes of net assets. 
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Tuition and fees – Tuition and fees revenue is recognized pro-rata over the applicable period of instruction. A 

contract is entered into with a student and covers a course or semester. The College determined there are no costs 

that are capitalized to obtain or fulfill a contract with a student. Revenue recognition begins once a student starts 

attending a course. Registration and other fees that do not relate to instruction are recognized when no longer 

refundable. The College’s receivables represent unconditional rights to consideration from its contracts with 

students; accordingly, receivables are not recorded until students have begun a course and the revenue recognition 

has commenced. The College’s education programs have start and end dates that differ from its fiscal year end. 

Therefore, at the end of each fiscal year, a portion of revenue from these programs is not yet earned and is recorded 

as contract liability in the statements of financial position. Student tuition and fees received in advance of services 

to be rendered are also recorded as contract liability. 

Contributions and trusts – Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenues 

in the period received. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until they become unconditional, that is 

when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Contributions of assets other than cash are 

recorded at their estimated fair value. Contributions to be received after one year are discounted at risk-adjusted 

rates ranging from 3% to 4%. 

Amortization of the discount is recorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor-imposed 

restrictions, if any, on the contributions. An allowance for uncollectible contributions receivable is based upon 

management's judgment including such factors as prior collection history, type of contribution, and nature of fund 

raising activity. Pledges are written off if they are deemed noncollectible. 

Trusts held by third parties represent the present value (discounted at risk-adjusted rate of 1.2%) of the estimated 

future distributions expected to be received by the College over the expected terms of the agreements. 

Contributions received with donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same year as received are reported as 

revenues of the net assets without donor restrictions class. 

Contributions of property, plant, and equipment without donor stipulations concerning the use of such long lived 

assets are reported as revenues of the net assets without donor restrictions class. Contributions of cash or other 

assets to be used to acquire property, plant, and equipment without such donor stipulations are reported as 

revenues with donor restrictions net asset class. The restrictions are considered to be released at the time such 

long lived assets are placed in service. 

Government grants – Support funded by grants is recognized as the College performs the contracted services 

under grant agreements. Grant revenue is recognized as earned as the eligible expenses are incurred. Grant 

expenditures are subject to audit and acceptance by the granting agency and, as a result of such audit, adjustments 

could be required. Amounts received in advance of incurring eligible expenses are recorded as a grant advance 

liability within other liabilities on the statements of financial position. 

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises – Auxiliary enterprises revenue includes a variety of services that 

enhance the quality of student life on campus. Fees for housing, dining services, and other auxiliary revenue, such 

as bookstore and food service commission, space rental, parking and recreational center fees, and intercollegiate 

athletic tickets revenue are recognized over the period the services are provided or at the time goods are provided. 
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Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and money market funds with 

a maturity of three months or less. Cash equivalents consist of amounts kept mostly in First Republic Bank (“FRB”) 

checking accounts. There are a few separate FRB accounts temporary restricted for Cal Grant, Private Alternative 

loan, and Mellon grant. Insignificant amounts that represent student loans repaid are kept in the City National Bank 

account.  A significant portion of the cash balances held at FRB at June 30, 2021 and 2020, is in excess of federally 

insured limits.  It should be noted that the master loan agreement with FRB calls for the College’s checking account 

to be at FRB. 

Student accounts receivable – The College grants credit for tuition to certain of its students, with typical payment 

terms corresponding to the semesters or the school year. Resulting accounts receivable are stated at the principal 

amount outstanding, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. An allowance for doubtful accounts is established 

when losses are estimated to have occurred through a charge to expense. 

Specific allowances are established for doubtful accounts when a student is unable to meet her or his financial 

obligation, as in the case of bankruptcy filings. Estimates are used in determining allowances based on factors such 

as current trends, the length of time the receivables are past due and historical collection experience. A receivable 

account is written off when all rights, remedies and recourses against the account and its principals are exhausted 

and a benefit is recorded when previously reserved accounts are collected. 

Federal Perkins Loan Program – Student loans receivable are reported at the outstanding principal balances. 

These loans have been issued to eligible students primarily under the Federal Perkins Loan Program. The 

repayment period begins after an initial grace period of either six or nine months after the student ceases to be at 

least a half-time student. Interest income is recorded as monthly payments are received. The College's share of 

any uncollectible accounts under the Federal Perkins Loan Program would not be material to the financial 

statements. Defaulted loans are handled in accordance with the guidelines of the Federal Perkins Loan Program. 

As of October 1, 2017, under Federal law, all institutions of higher education, including the College, may no longer 

award new Perkins loans to undergraduate students and may not make subsequent disbursements to 

undergraduate students after June 30, 2018. Concurrently, as of July 1, 2017, all institutions of higher education, 

including the College, may not disburse Perkins loans to graduate students. The College has been notified that the 

Federal government will begin collecting the Federal share of the College's Perkins loan revolving funds sometime 

thereafter. During the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College refunded $87,641 and $35,619 

respectively, of its Federal share to the Federal government. 

Inventories and other assets – Inventories are recorded on a first in, first out ("FIFO") basis. Inventories are 

recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value and consist primarily of supplies and postage. Other assets 

consist primarily of faculty salary advances. The remainder of other assets consists primarily of prepaid expenses. 

Fair value of financial instruments – Investments and beneficial interests in trusts held by third parties are 

reflected at estimated fair value, determined in accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. 

ASC Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchical disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of 

market price observable inputs used in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. 

The College applies fair value accounting in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

("GAAP"). The College generally values its assets on a yearly basis. Securities for which market quotations are 

readily available on an exchange are valued at the closing price of such security on the valuation date. 
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For securities for which reliable market quotations are not readily available or for which the pricing source does not 

provide a valuation or methodology, the College, with involvement of the Investment Committee, performs the 

following procedures: 

1. Management meets at least quarterly with the Investment Committee and the outside investment advisor 

to discuss market values, performance, and portfolio strategy. 

2. Management obtains audited financial statements, which include net asset values per share, and tests for 

accurate valuation by comparing the book value of each investment as of the most recent fiscal year end 

of the investees to the value calculated using information from the investment's audited financial 

statements, including net asset values ("NAV"). Management also reviews that the financial statements 

were prepared in accordance with GAAP, proper accounting policies were applied and followed, and the 

values are reasonable. 

3. Management verifies its share of investments and calculates the investment value attributed to the College. 

4. As it relates to beneficial interest in trusts held by third parties, the College obtains information about 

underlying assets of the trusts and evaluates that the valuation of the assets is reasonable.  

Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available 

market value, the fair value of the investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used 

had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the differences could be material. 

Measurement is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The 

levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the 

measurement date. The types of instruments which would generally be included in Level 1 

include listed equity securities. 

Level 2 - Inputs are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, as of the measurement 

date, but are other than quoted prices in active markets as in Level 1. Level 2 values have been 

determined by management of the College utilizing observable data that is readily available, 

regularly updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by sources that are 

actively involved in the relevant market. The types of instruments which would generally be 

included in this category include unlisted derivative financial instruments and fixed income 

investments. Fair values for these investments are estimated by the College using valuation 

methodologies that consider a range of factors, including, but not limited to, trading values on 

public exchanges for comparable securities and interest rates. 

Level 3 – Inputs are unobservable for the instrument and include situations where there is little, if any, 

market activity for the instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant 

judgment or estimation by the reporting entity. The types of instruments which would generally 

be included in this category include beneficial interests in trusts held by others. The inputs into 

the determination of fair value require significant judgment by the College. Due to the inherent 

uncertainty of these estimates, these values may differ materially from the values that would have 

been used had a ready market for these investments existed. 
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Investments – Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt 

securities are reported at fair value. The valuation of certain alternative investments, included in mutual and 

commingled funds and security trading limited partnerships, which are not readily marketable, are carried at 

estimated fair values as provided by the investment managers or general partners. The College reviews and 

evaluates the values provided by the third parties and agrees with the valuation methods and assumptions used in 

determining the fair values of the alternative investments. In cases where the investee has provided its investors 

with a net asset value per share or its equivalent, the College has estimated fair value by using the net asset value 

provided by its investee. Because the alternative investments are not readily marketable, their estimated value is 

subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market for 

such investments existed. Such a difference could be material. 

The College maintains pooled investment accounts for its endowments and quasi-endowments. Investment income 

and realized and unrealized gains and losses from securities in the pooled investment accounts are allocated 

monthly to the individual endowments. The allocation is based on the relationship of the fair value of the interest of 

each endowment or quasi-endowment to the total fair value of the pooled investment accounts, as adjusted for 

additions to or deductions from those accounts. 

The College’s Board of Trustees designates only a portion of the College's cumulative investment return to support 

current operations as per donor use restrictions where applicable. The remainder is retained to support operations 

of future years and to offset potential market declines. The amount computed under the endowment spending policy 

of the investment pool is used to support current operations. 

Property, plant, and equipment – Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost as of the date of acquisition. 

Gifts of plant facilities are recorded at fair value as of the date of donation. Cost includes the related net interest 

expense incurred on funds borrowed for construction of plant facilities. Library books are not capitalized. Collection 

items are capitalized. If purchased, collection items are capitalized at cost. Contributed collection items are 

recognized as assets and measured at fair value as of the day of donation. 

There is no depreciation recorded on collection items. Depreciation is provided on equipment over a five-year period 

on a straight-line basis. Depreciation is provided on buildings and improvements over a 40-year period on a straight-

line basis. 

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from 

the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in income for the period. 

The costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to income as incurred. Significant renewals and betterments 

over $5,000 are capitalized. 

Impairment of long-lived assets – Long-lived assets recorded by the College are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be 

recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying value amount 

of the assets to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are 

determined to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured as the difference between the related 

carrying amounts and fair values. No impairment was recorded during fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
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Asset retirement obligation – Asset retirement obligations include environmental obligations associated with the 

retirement of long-lived assets. These liabilities are recorded at fair value when incurred and are capitalized by 

increasing the carrying amount of the associated long lived asset. Over-time, the liability is accreted to its present 

value each period and the capitalized cost is depreciated on a straight-line basis through the estimated date of 

retirement. The liability is removed when the obligation is settled. 

Annuity and life income payable – The College uses the actuarial method of recording annuity and life income 

gifts. Under this method, when a gift is received, the present value of the aggregate estimated payable is recorded 

as a liability, based upon life expectancy tables, and the remainder is recorded as contributions to net assets with 

donor restriction. Investment income and gains are credited, and annuity payments and investment losses are 

charged to the liability accounts with annual adjustments made between the liability and net assets to record the 

adjustment of the actuarial liability. 

Contract liability - student deposits – Contract liability of $605,414 and $407,615 as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively, represents performance obligations associated with payments received from students for each 

academic year’s summer term that began in mid-June and ended in July. The contract liability is recognized ratably 

as revenue over the summer term. 

The following table depicts activities for contract liability – student deposits during the year ended June 30, 2021 

and 2020: 

Balance at June 30, 2019 396,040$           

Revenue recognized - summer term (396,040)            

Payment received for future performance obligation 407,615             

Balance at June 30, 2020 407,615             

Revenue recognized - summer term (407,615)            

Payment received for future performance obligation 605,414             

Balance at June 30, 2021 605,414$           

 
Income taxes – The College is recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as an organization exempt from federal 

income taxes on related income under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The College is also 

recognized by the Franchise Tax Board as exempt from California state tax on related income under Section 23701d 

of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. 

The College has identified and evaluated significant tax positions in its significant tax jurisdictions which are the 

federal and California state tax jurisdictions. The College has also determined that the open tax years are generally 

three years for federal and four years for California tax purposes. 
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For federal there is an unrelated business income net operating loss carryover of approximately $2,062,000 and 

$1,727,000 as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. For California there is an unrelated business income net 

operating loss carryover of approximately $2,152,000 and $2,012,000 as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

A net operating loss can only be reflected as a benefit (deferred tax asset) on the statements of financial position 

when it is likely that the loss would be utilized against taxable income in another tax year. Since there is not presently 

a likelihood of taxable income in another tax year, the College has recorded a full valuation allowance for the 

deferred tax assets on the statements of financial position for these net operating loss carryovers. There have been 

no related tax penalties or interest, which would be classified as tax expense in the statement of activities. 

The net operating loss carryover will begin to expire June 30, 2025, for federal purposes and June 30, 2031, for 

California purposes. 

The College applied ASC 740-10-25, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, to all tax positions for which the 

statute of limitations remained open and determined there were no material unrecognized tax benefits as of the 

year ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, nor are any changes anticipated in the twelve months following June 30, 2021. 

Advertising costs – Advertising costs were approximately $279,227 and $455,764 for the years ended June 30, 

2021 and 2020, respectively, and were expensed when incurred. 

Credit risk and fair value of financial instruments – The College grants credit in the normal course of operations 

and the credit risk with respect to these receivables is generally considered minimal due to the wide dispersion of 

receivables. 

Use of estimates – Management of the College has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the 

reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these financial 

statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. The most significant management estimates and assumptions relate to 

the determination of allowances for doubtful accounts, present value of multi-year pledges, charitable trusts, 

discount rate on loan receivable; conditional asset retirement obligations; and the reported fair values of certain 

College's assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Operating and nonoperating – Revenues, expenses, gains, and losses are allocated between operating and 

nonoperating based on the underlying influence, control, and discretion of management in using these resources 

toward general operations which support the core mission of the College. Accordingly, operating revenue includes 

net tuition, auxiliary enterprise revenue, contributions available to fund current operations, contracts and grants 

supporting operating activities, investment returns allocated to operations under the College's spending policy, other 

sales and services revenue, and miscellaneous income. Excluded from operating revenue are contributions 

restricted for endowment or capital expenditure and annuity and life income agreements. Also excluded are 

investment returns not allocated to operations under the spending policy, actuarial adjustments, and miscellaneous 

income. Operating expenses (for which operating revenues are used) include salaries and benefits, departmental 

expenses, facility maintenance costs, supplies, professional services, depreciation and interest on debt but does 

not include actuarial adjustments relating to annuity and life income agreements, or provision for uncollectible 

pledges. 
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Expense allocation – Expenses have been classified as functional expenses (instruction, research, public service, 

academic support, student services, institutional support and auxiliary services). Non-functional expenses 

(depreciation, operation and maintenance of plant and interest expense) have been allocated based on the percent 

of actual direct expenditures and based on square footage of occupancy. All other costs are charged directly to the 

appropriate functional category. 

Reclassifications – Certain amounts presented in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to 

conform to the current year presentation. 

Proposed merger with Northeastern University – Given its challenges with enrollment, liquidity, and inability to 

fund deferred maintenance, the College decided that long term operation in its current form was not sustainable. 

On March 17, 2021, the College announced that due to the above as well as the economic burdens of the COVID-

19 pandemic, structural changes across higher education, its declining enrollment, budget deficits, and reliance on 

monetization of assets for liquidity that it needed to shift away from being a degree-granting college and move 

towards becoming an Institute that could sustain its mission of fostering women’s leadership and student success, 

advancing gender and racial equity, and cultivating innovative pedagogy, research, and critical thinking. The 

College’s Board of Trustees decided that after fall 2021, the College would no longer enroll new first-year 

undergraduate students and would focus its resources on building degree pathways for continuing students, and 

supporting the new and existing students. The College envisioned granting degrees through 2023, pending further 

consideration and action by the College’s Board of Trustees.   

In April 2021, the College requested and received expressions of interest from several potential academic schools. 

Subsequent to year end, on July 2, 2021, a non-binding letter of intent was signed by the College and Northeastern 

University and, on September 14, 2021, the College’s Board of Trustees approved the merger agreement, and the 

definitive agreement was signed that day by the College and Northeastern University. The merger with Northeastern 

University will result in the College ceasing to exist as a separate entity and it will become an unincorporated division 

within Northeastern University’s existing corporate structure that will be known as Mills College at Northeastern 

University. Northeastern University will provide the College with financing sufficient to assist with liquidity for fiscal 

year 2022. In addition, upon closing, Northeastern University will assume the College’s long-term indebtedness and 

the College’s endowment funds will be used to support the Mills Institute and activities on the College campus, 

consistent with applicable donor restrictions.  By merging with Northeastern University, the College expects to have 

the ability to pay its debts as they come due through the merger’s closing on June 30, 2022.  

The New England Commission on Higher Education (“NECHE”) accredits Northeastern University similar to 

Western Association of Schools and Colleges Senior College and University Commission’s (“WSCUC”) 

accreditation of the College. Northeastern University, in collaboration with the College, are working with NECHE 

and WSCUC for the necessary approvals needed which will allow the College’s students to finish their degrees 

through existing, accredited Northeastern University programs through a customized, individual transition plan for 

each student. The College has notified WSCUC of its plan to seek NECHE accreditation for its teach-out and future 

programs as part of Northeastern University. The next steps for the College include submissions for withdrawal 

from accreditation with WSCUC and for approvals with the State of California's Bureau for Private Postsecondary 

Education (“BPPE”). The College is also engaged with the U.S. Department of Education and the California Student 

Aid Commission (“CSAC”) to ensure seamless transition of financial aid eligibility for its students and institutions.  



Mills College 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

16 

The College’s $5,000,000 line of credit was fully drawn upon as of June 30, 2021. The College will repay this line 

of credit by March 2022. The $2,000,000 line of credit established with the Alumnae Association of Mills College 

(“AMMC”) is fully drawn and was utilized to launch the online Educational Leadership Program and to fund the 

MPower undergraduate signature experience designed to increase retention. The AMMC line of credit is due on 

August 16, 2022. 

Adoption of new accounting standards – During 2021, the College adopted FASB Accounting Standards Update 

(“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASU No. 2014-09”), using the modified 

retrospective transition approach. As compared to existing guidance on revenue recognition, ASU No. 2014-09 

significantly enhanced comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions, and 

capital markets. The largely principles-based guidance in ASU No. 2014-09 provides a framework for addressing 

revenue recognition issues comprehensively for entities that apply U.S. GAAP in addition to those entities that apply 

International Financial Reporting Standards. The guidance in ASU No. 2014-09 also improved U.S. GAAP by 

reducing the number of requirements an entity must consider in recognizing revenue, as well as requiring improved 

disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of 

revenue that is recognized. The adoption of ASU No. 2014-09 did not have a significant impact on the financial 

statements. 

Effective July 1, 2020, the College adopted FASB ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): 

Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurements (“ASU No. 2018-

13”), which eliminated, added, and modified certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. ASU No. 

2018-13 did not have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

Effective July 1, 2020, the College adopted FASB ASU No. 2019-03, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Updating 

the Definition of Collections (“ASU No. 2019-03”), which modified the definition of the term collections and added a 

policy disclosure for the use of proceeds from when collection items are deaccessioned (that is, removed from a 

collection). 

Recent accounting pronouncements – In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 

842) (“ASU No. 2016-02”), which increases transparency and comparability among entities by recognizing lease 

assets and lease liabilities on the statements of financial position and disclosing key information about leasing 

arrangements in the financial statements of lessees and lessors. The effective date of ASU No. 2016-02 was 

deferred by ASU No. 2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842), to 

annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. These ASUs are effective for the College for the year ending 

June 30, 2023. Management is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of these ASU’s on the financial 

statements. 

In September 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-07, Presentation and Disclosures by Not-for-Profit Entities for 

Contributed Nonfinancial Assets (“ASU No. 2020-07”), to increase the transparency of contributed nonfinancial 

assets for not-for-profit entities through enhancements to presentation and disclosure. ASU No. 2020-07 should be 

applied on a retrospective basis and is effective for the College for the year ending June 30, 2022, with early 

adoption permitted. Management is currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of ASU No. 2020-07 on the 

financial statements. 
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NOTE 3 – STUDENT ACCOUNTS AND LOANS RECEIVABLE, NET 

Student accounts and loans receivable as of June 30 consist of the following: 

2021 2020

Student accounts 2,944,964$        2,090,923$        

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (580,690)            (270,855)            

Student accounts, net 2,364,274          1,820,068          

Perkins loan program 1,071,530          1,242,205          

Mills College loan program 1,526,471          1,644,382          

2,598,001          2,886,587          

Less allowance for doubtful accounts

Beginning of year (2,157,777)         (2,080,652)         

Increases (25,615)              (77,125)              

End of year (2,183,392)         (2,157,777)         

Student loans receivable, net 414,609             728,810             

Total student accounts and loans receivable, net 2,778,883$        2,548,878$        

 
The Perkins Loan Program notes, which bear interest at 5%, are payable over approximately 10 years beginning 

nine months after the student ceases to be enrolled at least half-time at an institution of higher education. The Mills 

College Loan Program notes, which bear interest at 6% to 8.5%, are payable in equal monthly installments over a 

five-year period beginning nine months after the student ceases to be a full time student.  

The College makes uncollateralized loans to students based on financial need. Student loans are funded through 

Federal government loan programs or institutional resources, and are ultimately refundable to the government. At 

June 30, 2021 and 2020, net student loans represented 0.13% and 0.23% of total assets, respectively. 

The College participates in the Perkins federal revolving loan program. The availability of funds for loans under the 

program is dependent on reimbursements to the pool from repayments on outstanding loans. Funds advanced by 

the Federal government of $148,292 and $238,575 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, are ultimately 

refundable to the government and are classified as liabilities in the accompanying statements of financial position. 

Outstanding loans cancelled under the program result in a reduction of the funds available for loan and a decrease 

in the liability to the government. 
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At June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, the following amounts were past due principal under student loan 

programs: 

3-12 13-24 >than 24

30 Days 60 Days Months Months Months Total 

Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due Past Due

2021 -$                   1,638$               18,691$             34,816$             1,186,255$        1,241,400$        

2020 -$                   971$                  18,458$             43,517$             1,037,347$        1,100,293$        

 
Institutional loan balances are written off only when they are deemed to be permanently uncollectible. 

NOTE 4 – CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRUSTS RECEIVABLE, NET 

 

Contributions and trusts receivable as of June 30 consist of the following:  

2021 2020

Contributions receivable expected to be collected in

Less than one year 698,840$           1,668,599$        

One to five years 299,574             680,439             

Total contributions receivable 998,414             2,349,038          

Less unamortized discount to present value (10,739)              (32,484)              

Less allowance for uncollectible pledges (64,179)              (75,143)              

Contributions receivable, net 923,496             2,241,411          

Beneficial interest in trusts held by third parties 13,476,226        11,901,819        

Total contributions and trusts receivable, net 14,399,722$      14,143,230$      

 
For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the changes in beneficial interest in trusts held by third parties 

classified as Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: 

Balance at June 30, 2019 10,120,198$      

Additions -                     

Distributions -                     

Change in value of beneficial interest 1,781,621          

Balance at June 30, 2020 11,901,819        

Additions -                     

Distributions (15,565)              

Change in value of beneficial interest 1,589,972          

Balance at June 30, 2021 13,476,226$      
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Although the College believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with those used by other market 

participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial 

instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. Estimated values may differ 

significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market for such instruments existed, 

or had such instruments been liquidated. These differences could be material to the financial statements. 

The following tables summarize the significant unobservable inputs the College used to value trusts categorized as 

Level 3 securities. The tables below are not meant to be all inclusive, but instead captures the significant 

unobservable inputs relevant to the determination of fair values at June 30, 2021: 

Fair Value

Trust of Underlying Valuation Unobservable Quantitative

Name Assets Technique Inputs Data

Trust A 9,113,998$        Market/income

approach

Discount rate

Lifespan

Payout rate

1.2%

7.1 years

1.2%

Trust B 3,804,941$        Market/income

approach

Discount rate

Lifespan

Payout rate

1.2%

10.4 years

1.2%

Other 1,890,453$        Market/income

approach

Discount rate

Lifespan

Payout rate

1.2%

26 years - perpetuity

1.2% -5%

June 30, 2021
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NOTE 5 – INVESTMENTS 

The fair values of investments as of June 30 are as follows: 

2021 2020

Investment by fund category

Operating / 457(b) 677,611$           573,714$           

Endowment

Pooled investments 224,142,308      185,910,202      

Due from other funds 1,479,824          1,408,790          

Total endowment pool assets 225,622,132      187,318,992      

Annuity and life income investments 3,085,893          2,654,295          

Due from other funds (1,479,824)         (1,408,790)         

Total investments by category 227,905,812$    189,138,211$    

 
The investments in the commingled funds and security trading limited partnerships include investments that are 

classified as other. The values of investments in these categories are based on net asset value per share or its 

equivalent. 

The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risks associated with 

investing in those securities. Changes in valuation techniques may result in transfers into or out of an assigned level 

within the disclosure hierarchy. No securities were transferred from Level 2 to Level 1. 

No securities were transferred from Level 3 to Level 2 during the year. Additionally, no securities were transferred 

from Level 1 to Level 2 during the year. 

Certain investments determine the value of the College's holdings by computing NAV whereas other investment 

managers determine the value of the College's holdings by using the College's ownership percentage in the 

respective investments. 
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The following tables present investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the ASC Topic 820 valuation 

hierarchy as of June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total

Cash equivalents 13,893,554$    -$                 -$                 -$                 13,893,554$    

Common stocks

U.S. common stocks 18,149,855      -                   153,000           -                   18,302,855      

Non-U.S. common stocks 601,213           -                   -                   -                   601,213           

Fixed income 1,059,501        97,333             80,454             -                   1,237,288        

Mutual funds

Fixed income 47,156,570      -                   -                      -                      47,156,570      

Commingled funds

Traditional equities 9,641,336        -                   -                   60,653,056      70,294,392      

Alternative equities -                   -                   -                   26,226,770      26,226,770      

Security trading limited partnerships

Alternative equities -                   -                   -                   49,730,601      49,730,601      

Real estate investments trusts

and other 458,471           -                   4,098               -                   462,569           

Total investments by asset type 90,960,500$    97,333$           237,552$         136,610,427$  227,905,812    

Cash investments not included

in leveling -                   

Total investments by asset type 227,905,812$  

June 30, 2021
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total

Cash equivalents 15,084,707$    -$                 -$                 -$                 15,084,707$    

Common stocks

U.S. common stocks 23,410,041      -                   -                   -                   23,410,041      

Non-U.S. common stocks 777,766           -                   -                   -                   777,766           

Fixed income -                   910,637           -                   -                   910,637           

Mutual funds

Fixed income 23,839,639      -                   -                   -                   23,839,639      

Commingled funds

Traditional equities -                   -                   -                   60,281,840      60,281,840      

Alternative equities -                   -                   -                   22,475,954      22,475,954      

Security trading limited partnerships

Alternative equities -                   -                   -                   41,702,757      41,702,757      

Real estate investments trusts

and other 245,547           87,718             240,450           -                   573,715           

Total investments by asset type 63,357,700$    998,355$         240,450$         124,460,551$  189,057,056    

Cash investments not included

in leveling 81,155             

Total investments by asset type 189,138,211$  

June 30, 2020

 
Total investment returns allocated to operations for years ended June 30 were made up of the following: 

2021 2020

Pooled investment income, net of $1,717,604  and $1,263,848

investment expenses in 2021 and 2020, respectively 1,517,255$        301,518$           

Net realized gains, including pooled assets 10,104,940        2,447,529          

Unrealized gains (losses), including pooled assets 37,833,000        (337,585)            

Total investment returns 49,455,195        2,411,462          

Less nonoperating investment (gains) losses (37,444,365)       9,847,527          

Investment returns allocated to operations 12,010,830$      12,258,989$      
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The College uses the NAV to determine the fair value of all the underlying investments that (a) do not have a readily determinable fair value and {b) prepare 

their financial statements consistent with the measurement principles of an investment company or have the attributes of an investment company. The 

following table lists investments measured at NAV by major category at June 30, 2021: 

Number Remaining

NAV of Remaining Remaining Draw-Down Redemption Redemption Gate

Strategy Balance Funds Life Unfunded Period Terms Lockup Restriction

Equities 
(1)

Comingled funds Domestic, Global, 

International, & Emerging 

Markets Equities

60,653,056$      5 N/A N/A N/A Ranges from 

daily to 30 days' 

notice with daily 

to semi-annual 

redemption 

opportunity

Past lockups 0-25%

Hedge funds 
(2)

Comingled funds Equity long/short

event driven, relative

value, credit & merger

arbitrage

26,071,437        5 N/A N/A N/A Ranges from 30 

to 180 days' 

notice with 

monthly to semi-

annual 

redemption 

opportunity

Past lockups 0-30%

 

Investment partnerships Equity long/short

event driven, relative

value, credit & merger

arbitrage

21,776,800        3 N/A N/A N/A Ranges from 60 

to 65 days' notice 

with quarterly to 

semi-annual 

redemption 

opportunity

Past lockups 0-50%

Hybrid investments 
(3)

Investment partnerships 5,427,793          4 5 to 8 years 1,369,123$        0 to 2 years Redemption not 

permitted

N/A N/A

Private equity
 (4)

Comingled funds Venture capital, growth 

equity & leveraged buyout

155,333             1 1 year 49,035               0 years Redemption not 

permitted

N/A N/A

Investment partnerships 18,326,904        21 4 to 11 years 8,683,377          0 to 6 years Redemption not 

permitted

N/A N/A

Real assets
 (5)  

Investment partnerships 4,199,104          8 1 to 27 years 2,978,349          0 to 3.5 years Redemption not 

permitted

N/A

N/A

136,610,427$    47 13,079,884$      

June 30, 2021

Structure
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 (1) This category includes separately-managed accounts, exchange traded funds, commingled investment vehicles, 

and limited partnerships. These funds were formed with the purpose of achieving long-term capital appreciation. 

Capital is allocated among various money managers with distinct and complementary investment styles, with the 

expectation that this strategy will result in an overall equity portfolio that is diversified by geographic region, 

economic sector, industry, and market capitalization. The fair values of the equity investments held through limited 

partnerships and similar pooled vehicles have been estimated using the NAV per share of the investments. 

Investments in this category may be redeemed daily to semi-annually, in whole or in part, sometimes subject to 

written notice prior to a notification date. 

(2) This category includes investments that invest primarily in limited partnerships and similar pooled investment 

vehicles. These funds were formed with the purpose of achieving long-term capital appreciation with reduced 

volatility. Capital is allocated among various money managers including both "absolute return" strategies and 

long/short "equity hedge" strategies. Absolute return strategies typically involve spread-based arbitrage and 

distressed investing, and emphasize consistency of performance and low correlation to the broad market indices. 

Equity hedge managers typically make both long and short investments, and produce returns that can be expected 

to correlate more closely with the performance of the equity markets than would the performance of the absolute 

return strategies, though with lower volatility than traditional "long only'' equity managers. The fair values of 

investments in this category have been estimated using the NAV per share of the investments. Investments in this 

category may be redeemed quarterly to annually, in whole or in part, subject to written notice prior to their required 

notification dates. 

(3) This category includes investments that invest in limited partnerships and similar pooled investment vehicles. 

These funds represent investment opportunities that do not neatly fit within any of the other categories, either due 

to the structure or nature of the investments. Return expectations will correlate with the characteristic of the 

investment, lock-up period, and fee structure. Examples range from tactical (i.e. credit opportunities) to hybrid (i.e. 

a manager that invests in public equities but is structured in a manner of an alternative asset manager with a longer 

lock-up and different fee structure). The fair values of investments in this category have been estimated using the 

NAV of the College's ownership interest in partner capital. 

(4) This category includes several private equity funds that invest primarily in private equity investment partnerships. 

The fair values of the investments in this category have been estimated using the NAV of the College's ownership 

interest in partner's capital. The purpose of the private equity investments is to provide capital appreciation above 

public market equity returns. In exchange for this potential appreciation, private equity is illiquid and typically 

requires several years before returning any capital. These investments can never be redeemed with the funds. 

Instead, the nature of the investments in this category is that distributions are received through liquidation of the 

underlying assets of the fund. Management has estimated that the underlying assets of these funds will be liquidated 

over 1 to 11 years. 

(5) This category includes mutual funds and limited partnerships. The fair values of the investments in this category 

that are held through limited partnerships and similar pooled investment vehicles have been estimated using the 

net asset value of the College’s ownership interest. The purpose of the real asset investments is to provide 

substantial capital appreciation with different drivers of return than public equity markets and often to serve as a 

hedge against inflation. Real asset strategies are investments in tangible assets, such as real estate, energy and 

power, timber and other hard assets.  Those real asset investments that are held in limited partnerships typically 

require several years before returning any capital and can never be redeemed with the partnerships. Capital is 

distributed as the underlying assets of the partnerships are liquidated. Management has estimated that the 

underlying assets will be held in partnerships for as long as 30 years.  
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NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENTS 

The State of California adopted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA") with an 

effective date of January 1, 2009. As a result, the College reviewed all relevant gift instruments and its organizing 

documents to determine if it had funds with donor-imposed restrictions that are subject to the state enacted version 

of UPMIFA. The College continues to review all gift instruments in relationship to the enacted law. 

The College's endowment consists of approximately 500 individual funds established for a variety of purposes. The 

endowment includes both donor-restricted endowed funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to 

function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 

restrictions. 

Interpretation of relevant law – The Board of Trustees of the College has interpreted the California enacted 

version of UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-

restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the 

College classifies as net assets with donor restrictions (a) the original value of gifts donated to the restricted 

endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the restricted endowment, and (c) accumulations to the 

restricted endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the 

accumulation is added to the fund. Accumulated unspent earnings are reported as net assets with donor restrictions 

until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the College in a manner consistent with the standard of 

prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. 

Funds with deficiencies – Funds with deficiencies or underwater endowments represent the amounts by which 

the fair value of certain endowment funds with donor restrictions were below the amount required to be retained in 

perpetuity. The College has interpreted UPMIFA to permit spending from underwater endowments in accordance 

with prudent measures required under law. As of June 30, 2021, 75 funds with original gift values of $42,407,905, 

fair values of $39,805,475, and deficiencies of $2,602,430 were reported in net assets with donor restrictions. As 

of June 30, 2020, 229 funds with original gift values of $87,182,432, fair values of $74,521,785, and deficiencies of 

$12,660,647 were reported in net assets with donor restrictions. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable 

market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new contributions with donor restrictions and 

continued appropriation for program support was deemed prudent by the governing board. Subsequent gains that 

restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment fund to the required level will be classified as an increase in 

net assets with donor restrictions. 

Return objectives and risk parameters – The long-term financial goal for the endowment portfolio is to provide a 

relatively stable stream of expendable revenue that increases over time at least as fast as the general rate of 

inflation measured by both the Consumer Price Index {the "CPI") and the San Francisco Bay Area Consumer Price 

Index {the "BACPI") on a "per unit" basis. The strategic investment objective for the endowment portfolio is to 

maximize long-term real (i.e., after inflation) total returns (i.e., yield plus capital appreciation) and at the same time 

moderate fundamental investment risk. The portfolio seeks to attain an inflation-adjusted total return, net of 

investment expense, at least equal to the contemplated spending rate over the long-term (rolling five- and ten-year 

periods). 

In accordance with UPMIFA, the College considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate 

or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 

1. The duration and preservation of the endowment fund. 
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2. The purposes of the College and the endowment fund. 

3. General economic conditions. 

4. The possible effect of inflation or deflation. 

5. The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments. 

6. Other resources of the College. 

7. The investment policy of the College. 

The goals of the spending policy are to create a more consistent and predictable operating revenue stream from 

portfolio income and balance current and future benefits of endowment spending by ensuring a stable source of 

income in lean economic years and disciplined spending when market conditions are very strong. The College’s 

Board of Trustees will review the policy and spending rate annually using the seven factors set forth above. 

Under the endowment spending policy, the payout amount is subject to increase each year by the rate of inflation. 

The increase for inflation is the greater of 2.5% or the actual rate of inflation based on the BACPI for December, 

except that the increase for actual inflation cannot be greater than 5%. The payout rate as a percent of the 12-

quarter trailing average market value was 7% for both years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 

The following tables summarize the endowment composition and the changes in endowment net assets for the 

years ended June 30: 

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Endowment invested net assets, June 30, 2020 6,953,751$        178,956,451$    185,910,202$    

Investment return

Investment income, net 56,021               1,461,234          1,517,255          

Net appreciation (realized/unrealized) 1,772,446          46,165,494        47,937,940        

Total investment return 1,828,467          47,626,728        49,455,195        

Additions from contributions -                     1,474,369          1,474,369          

Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (537,349)            (11,733,841)       (12,271,190)       

Other changes

Reclass associated with change in donor

designation 60,513               (415,746)            (355,233)            

Change in due from/to other funds -                     (71,034)              (71,034)              

Endowment invested net assets, June 30, 2021 8,305,382          215,836,927      224,142,309      

Due from other funds -                     1,479,824          1,479,824          

Total endowment funds 8,305,382$        217,316,751$    225,622,133$    
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Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Endowment invested net assets, June 30, 2019 7,346,117$        183,560,281$    190,906,398$    

Investment return

Investment income, net 11,404               290,114             301,518             

Net appreciation (realized/unrealized) 79,806               2,030,139          2,109,945          

Total investment return 91,210               2,320,253          2,411,463          

Additions from contributions -                     1,043,204          1,043,204          

Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (483,576)            (12,039,567)       (12,523,143)       

Other changes

Reclass associated with change in donor

designation -                     (16,507)              (16,507)              

Change in due from/to other funds -                     4,088,787          4,088,787          

Endowment invested net assets, June 30, 2020 6,953,751          178,956,451      185,910,202      

Due from other funds -                     1,408,790          1,408,790          

Total endowment funds 6,953,751$        180,365,241$    187,318,992$    

 

NOTE 7 – PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property, plant, and equipment, net as of June 30 consisted of the following: 

2021 2020

Improvements 79,536,231$      79,269,540$      

Buildings 103,843,217      104,543,215      

Equipment 35,222,427        35,021,588        

218,601,875      218,834,343      

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (123,887,431)     (119,259,243)     

94,714,444        99,575,100        

Land 291,686             291,686             

Total property, plant, and equipment, net 95,006,130$      99,866,786$      
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NOTE 8 – COLLECTIONS 

Collections consist of works of art and rare library collections. The College displays its collections at the art museum 

and library located on campus. The College seeks works of high aesthetic quality and historical importance and 

only accepts items that can be properly housed and stored. Collections are given indefinite useful lives. Proceeds 

from deaccessioned collection items are used to acquire new items for the collection, for the direct care of the 

collection, ensuring the collection is protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved, or other uses as 

approved by the College’s Board of Trustees. On November 7, 2019, the College’s Board of Trustees authorized 

the College’s management to sell College's complete copy of Shakespeare's First Folio; and the College engaged 

Christie's in late November 2019. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the College sold the Shakespeare's First 

Folio for a gain of $8,568,000 in unrestricted cash, included in other revenue and gains in the accompanying 

statements of activities. On November 7, 2019, the College’s Board of Trustees authorized the College’s 

management to sell a musical manuscript; and the College engaged Christie's in late November 2019. During the 

year ended June 30, 2020, the College sold the musical manuscript for a gain of $879,975 in unrestricted cash, 

included in other revenue and gains in the accompanying statements of activities.  

As of June 30 collections consist of the following: 

2021 2020

Collections 3,362,169$        3,408,669$        

 

NOTE 9 – LINES OF CREDIT 

The College has a four-year line of credit with First Republic Bank, executed in March 2018. The provisions of the 

line will be adjusted annually from $8,000,000 in fiscal year 2018 to $5,000,000 in fiscal year 2021. The maximum 

borrowing decreases to $7,000,000 on March 1, 2019; $6,000,000 on March 1, 2020, and to $5,000,000 on March 1, 

2021. The line matures on March 1, 2022. The interest rate on this line is prime rate less ½%. $5,000,000 and 

$6,000,000 was borrowed and outstanding at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The interest rate at June 30, 

2021 and 2020, was 2.75%. The line is subject to the same covenants as the bonds payable (Note 10). 

On August 16, 2018, the College entered into an additional line of credit with the Alumnae Association of Mills 

College ("AAMC"). The maximum borrowings are $2,000,000 and the line matured on August 15, 2019. The maturity 

date was extended for three additional years and now expires on August 15, 2022. Interest is payable monthly at 

prime rate less ½% and was 2.75% at June 30, 2021 and 2020. $1,999,800 was borrowed and outstanding at 

June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
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NOTE 10 – BONDS PAYABLE 

As of June 30, total bonds payable issued through the direct placement with First Republic Bank through the 

California Statewide Communities Development Authority ("CSCDA") and associated interest rates and maturities 

are as follows: 

Interest

Rates Maturity 2021 2020

CSCDA Series 2015 2.2% to 3.75%

7/1/2015 to

9/1/2035 24,571,761$      25,924,301$      

Unamortized debt issuance costs (205,852)            (220,556)            

Unamortized bond discount and

bond premium, net (112,000)            (120,000)            

Total bonds payable 24,253,909$      25,583,745$      

 
On April 15, 2015, the College issued $5,259,066 in private placement bonds with First Republic Bank through the 

CSCDA to refinance its CEFA series 1997 Notes at a lower interest rate. On September 1, 2015, the College issued 

$26,503,763 in private placement bonds with First Republic Bank through the CSCDA to refinance its CEFA series 

2005 A and B Notes at a lower interest rate. The First Republic Bank debt is secured by real property of the College. 

Covenants place a long-term debt coverage ratio and liquidity covenant ratio requirements on the College, and 

require the submission of audited financial statements within 180 days after year end. As of June 30, 2021, 

management believes those covenants have been met or obtained an appropriate waiver. 

Aggregate annual maturities of bonds payable to be made for the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Years ending June 30, 

2022 1,389,449$        

2023 1,429,110          

2024 1,473,291          

2025 1,522,872          

2026 1,572,227          

Thereafter 17,184,812        

24,571,761$      
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NOTE 11 – NET ASSETS 

Net assets consist of the following at June 30: 

2021 2020

Net assets with donor restriction for time or purpose

Remainder interest in split interest agreements 13,473,477$      11,840,272$      

Contributions receivable 669,172             1,088,086          

Donor funds restricted for specific purposes 5,135,372          6,426,722          

19,278,021        19,355,080        

Net assets with donor restriction for endowment

Board designated quasi-endowments with donor use restrictions 194,514             172,384             

Portion of perpetual endowment funds subject to a time restriction

under UPMIFA (unappropriated endowment earnings) 62,557,138        26,643,363        

Portion of endowment restricted for time or purpose 62,751,652        26,815,747        

Net assets with perpetual donor restrictions

Portion of perpetual endowment funds subject to be 

retained permanently 154,565,099      153,482,621      

Remainder interest in split interest agreements designated

for endowment 1,141,607          899,717             

Pledges and other contribution receivables 402,525             585,209             

Perpetual income trusts held by others 864,012             724,430             

Student loan funds 74,340               35,317               

Total net assets with perpetual donor restrictions 157,047,583      155,727,294      

Total net assets with donor restrictions 239,077,256$    201,898,121$    

 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, assets with donor restrictions for the acquisition of long-lived assets were $1,445,023 

and $1,381,482, respectively, and are included within contributions receivable and funds with donor restrictions for 

specific use in the table above. 

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College did not have available sufficient assets to support donor­restricted 

amounts; the shortfall was approximately $6.3 and $6.6 million, respectively. However, the College maintains a 

Board-designated endowment (Note 6) of approximately $8.3 and $7.0 million as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively, that, upon Board action, could be made available to satisfy donor restrictions if needed. See also 

Note 2, proposed merger with Northeastern University. 
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NOTE 12 – TUITION AND FEES, NET 

Tuition and fees, net for the years ended June 30 consists of the following: 

2021 2020

Tuition and fees 25,994,301$      31,315,582$      

Less

Sponsored student aid (6,169,748)        (5,964,624)         

Unsponsored student aid (4,195,957)        (5,924,683)         

Total financial aid (10,365,705)      (11,889,307)       

Tuition and fees, net 15,628,596$      19,426,275$      

 

NOTE 13 – AGENCY FUNDS 

Certain receipts of financial aid funds from government grants and programs are treated as pass-through agency 

funds and are therefore not included as revenues or financial aid in the accompanying statements of activities. The 

receipt and use of these pass-through funds are as follows for the years ended June 30: 

2021 2020

Federal Pell grant program

Revenue 1,402,593$        1,721,509$        

Expense (1,402,593)         (1,721,509)         

Net -$                   -$                   

California grant program

Revenue 1,915,488$        2,153,124$        

Expense (1,915,488)         (2,153,124)         

Net -$                   -$                   

 
The College is responsible for the performance of certain administrative duties with respect to federally guaranteed 

loans issued to students and parents of students of the College under the Federal Student Aid program. These 

loans are issued to assist with College costs. Outstanding loan balances and transactions relating to these loan 

programs are not included in the College's financial statements but loaned amounts are summarized as follows for 

the years ended June 30: 

2021 2020

Federal direct loan 6,649,027$        8,641,038$        

Federal direct loan - graduate 1,083,386          1,666,379          

Total 7,732,413$        10,307,417$      
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NOTE 14 – EXPENSES BY FUNCTION 

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one program or 

supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. 

Expenses have been classified as functional expenses (instruction, research, public service, academic support, 

student services, institutional support, and auxiliary services). Non-functional expenses (depreciation, operation 

and maintenance of plant and interest expense) have been allocated based on the percent of actual direct 

expenditures. Academic and student programs consist of instruction, research, academic support, and student 

services as presented in the accompanying statements of activities. Administrative support and fundraising are 

combined and presented as institutional supports in the accompanying statements of activities.  

Academic and Facilities

Student Public Administrative Operation and Total

Programs Service Auxiliaries Support Fundraising Maintenance Expense

Salaries and wages 19,300,500$    1,561,152$      582,623$         4,518,010$      998,724$         2,241,354$      29,202,363$    

Employee benefits 3,269,607        306,293           154,650           1,731,938        210,378           582,889           6,255,755        

Services, supplies, and other 5,631,906        1,039,203        1,926,275        2,487,360        173,208           198,291           11,456,243      

Occupancy, utilities, and maintenance 522,534           17,202             769,728           1,180,376        56,675             8,989,525        11,536,040      

Depreciation and amortization 1,964,037        200,748           1,731,547        678,369           101,365           -                   4,676,066        

Interest expense 411,637           42,074             362,910           142,178           21,245             -                   980,044           

31,100,221      3,166,672        5,527,733        10,738,231      1,561,595        12,012,059      64,106,511      

Facilities operation and maintenance 5,045,294        515,690           4,448,065        1,742,619        260,391           (12,012,059)     -                   

Total expenses 36,145,515$    3,682,362$      9,975,798$      12,480,850$    1,821,986$      -$                 64,106,511$    

Academic and Facilities

Student Public Administrative Operation and Total

Programs Service Auxiliaries Support Fundraising Maintenance Expense

Salaries and wages 20,486,401$    1,408,893$      711,737$         4,714,561$      1,366,480$      2,173,765$      30,861,837$    

Employee benefits 3,665,610        284,821           186,219           1,813,220        281,413           609,953           6,841,236        

Services, supplies, and other 4,725,435        749,955           3,327,898        1,706,679        208,337           366,766           11,085,070      

Occupancy, utilities, and maintenance 515,826           18,400             754,328           948,197           43,186             3,042,212        5,322,149        

Depreciation and amortization 2,036,335        170,570           1,749,272        537,428           230,326           -                   4,723,931        

Interest expense 685,568           57,425             588,923           180,935           77,543             -                   1,590,394        

32,115,175      2,690,064        7,318,377        9,901,020        2,207,285        6,192,696        60,424,617      

Facilities operation and maintenance 2,669,473        223,603           2,293,155        704,525           301,939           (6,192,696)       (1)                     

Total expenses 34,784,648$    2,913,667$      9,611,532$      10,605,545$    2,509,224$      -$                 60,424,616$    

2021

Program Activities Supporting Activities

2020

Program Activities Supporting Activities

 

NOTE 15 – CONTRIBUTION PLANS 

Employees with six months of service are eligible to participate in the Mills College Defined Contribution Plan 

through Fidelity. Benefits are funded by contributions from both the College and the participating employees. All 

contributions are fully vested after twelve months of service. The College's contributions for the years ended 

June 30, 2021 and 2020, were $0 and $534,343, respectively. 
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NOTE 16 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

In 2009, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the California Regional Water Quality 

Control Board ordered the East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD), six East Bay cities and one sewer district to 

fix old, cracked sanitary sewer pipes. The EPA's mandate compelled EBMUD and its partners to phase in 

a Regional Private Sewer Lateral (PSL) Ordinance beginning in 2011 requiring affected property owners to obtain 

a certificate from EBMUD certifying that all of their PSLs are leak-free.  The College surveyed the sewer laterals on 

its campus and developed a corrective action and proposal, along with a budget that was accepted by EBMUD.  

Estimated costs to repair the entire system, with a completion date of 2029, is estimated at $1.5 to $2 million. During 

the year ended June 30, 2021, the College recorded the present value of the anticipated cost, considering inflation 

rate, of $1,601,035 and is included in other liabilities on the accompanying statements of financial position.  

The United States Department of Justice ("DOJ") conducted an on-site accessibility audit of the College’s facilities 

available for use by the general public in March 2010. An agreement was reached in January 2013 regarding facility 

modifications to address alleged barriers to access to certain facilities of the College identified by the DOJ over a 

completion timeline expiring in December 2023. The DOJ provided an extension to 2026 and 2028 for the College 

regarding on-site accessibility. The College recorded the present value of the anticipated cost, considering inflation 

rate, of $3,929,607 and $163,201 as a liability at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is included in other 

liabilities on the accompanying statements of financial position.  

In March 2018, the College entered into a contract with Noodle Partners for the online delivery of its Masters in 

Educational Leadership Program.  In fall 2019, the College switched to a Temporary Revenue Share Model with 

Noodle Partners whereby a certain percent of the expenses are recorded and paid.  As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 

the College recorded $1,713,452 and $235,200, respectively, as a liability for the temporary revenue share 

arrangement with Noodle Partners and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying 

statements of financial position.  

The College adjusts its asbestos remediation liability on an annual basis, using present value of expected cost and 

inflation rate. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, $115,305 and $114,240, respectively, of asbestos liability has been 

recorded and is included in other liabilities on the accompanying statements of financial position. 

The College is contingently liable in connection with claims and contracts, including those currently in litigation, 

arising in the normal course of its activities. In the opinion of management, the results of these matters will not have 

a significant impact on the financial statements. 

The College also has funding from certain federal entities. Costs billed to the federal government are subject to 

audit by the respective cognizant agency. In the opinion of management, the results of these audits will not have a 

significant impact on the financial statements. 

NOTE 17 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The College considers trustees, officers, and key employees to be related parties. Included in contribution 

receivables for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, are contributions receivable from related parties totaling 

$150,000 and $226,000, respectively. Included in revenues for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, are 

contributions from related parties totaling $0 and $227,020, respectively. 

https://www.eastbaypsl.com/eastbaypsl/doc/RegionalPSLOrdinance.pdf
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NOTE 18 – LIQUIDITY 

At June 30, the College's financial assets and available financial resources available within one year to meet general 

expenditures were approximately as follows: 

2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 3,836,933$        2,045,266$        

Student accounts and loans receivable, net 2,778,883          2,548,878          

Current contributions receivable 698,840             1,668,599          

Government grants and other receivables 1,296,129          1,197,787          

Subsequent year's endowment payout available for operations 3,886,100          3,763,266          

Total 12,496,885$      11,223,796$      

 
The College structures its financial assets to be available for its general expenditures, grant disbursements, and 

other operational obligations as they arise.  

See Note 2, the College’s Proposed merger with Northeastern University for additional information. The College's 

endowment has a market value of $226 million as of June 30, 2021, which is approximately $63 million over the 

corpus. 

NOTE 19 – PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM 

In April 2020, the College was a recipient of a Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan of $6,559,200 granted by 

the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) under the CARES Act. The PPP loan had a stated interest rate of 1% 

per annum and required equal monthly payments of principal commencing June 25, 2021, through the contractual 

maturity date of April 25, 2022. During 2020, this was reflected as $5,359,685 of Federal Grant revenue included in  

government contracts and grants on the statements of activities; $1,199,515 as a deferred grant liability included in 

other liabilities on the accompanying statements of financial position; and $1,199,515 as restricted cash on the 

accompanying statements of financial position to be used for salaries in fiscal year 2021. During fiscal year 2021, 

the restricted cash was utilized as intended and the remaining $1,199,515 was included in government contracts 

and grants on the statements of activities.  

On October 5, 2021, the College was notified by the SBA that they had completed its review of the College’s PPP 

forgiveness application and that all principal and interest under the loan had been remitted, and therefore, forgiven 

in full. 

NOTE 20 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the statement of financial position date but before 

the financial statements are available to be issued. The College recognizes in the financial statements the effects 

of all subsequent events that provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the statement 

of financial position, including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing the financial statements. The 

College’s financial statements do not recognize subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that did 

not exist at the date of the statement of financial position, but arose after the statement of financial position date 

and before the financial statements are available to be issued. 
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The College’s management determined that, other than as described below, there are no material events that 

occurred subsequent to the statement of financial position date and through December 17, 2021, the date the 

financial statements are issued, which would require adjustments to or disclosures in the financial statements. 

As noted in Note 2, proposed merger with Northeastern University, on September 14, 2021, the College entered 

into a definitive agreement, which is still subject to regulatory approvals, with Northeastern University. On December 

16, 2021, the College entered into a Credit Agreement with Northeastern University and a related Subordination 

Agreement among the College, Northeastern University, and First Republic Bank.  As part of these agreements, 

the College made a prepayment to First Republic Bank for $4,250,000 to reduce bonds payable. 

As noted in Note 19, on October 5, 2021, the College was notified by the SBA that they had completed its review 

of the College’s PPP forgiveness application and that all principal and interest under the loan had been remitted, 

and therefore, forgiven in full. 

NOTE 21 – CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 PANDEMIC  

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. The related adverse public 

health developments, including orders to shelter-in-place, travel restrictions, and mandated business closures, have 

adversely affected workforces, organizations, their customers, economies, and financial markets globally, leading 

to increased market volatility and disruptions in normal business operations, including the College’s operations.  

Administration has been closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on the College’s operations, including the 

impact on our students and employees. The duration and intensity of the pandemic are uncertain but may influence 

student enrollment and housing decisions, donor decisions, investment performance, and may also negatively 

impact collections of the College’s receivables. 

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (“CARES”) Act was signed into law. Among other things, the 

CARES Act allocated $14 billion to higher education through the creation of the Education Stabilization Fund 

through the Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund ("HEERF"). This fund was further supplemented by additional 

allocations contained in the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (“CRRSAA”) and 

the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARP”).  A portion of these funds must go directly to students in the form 

of emergency grants and the remaining funds are meant to cover expenses related to the disruption of campus 

operations due to COVID-19 or to replace lost revenue because of the pandemic. 

Commencing in mid-March 2020, the College transitioned its students to online learning for both undergraduate 

and graduate course instruction, most students vacated the campus and almost all of its faculty and staff 

transitioned to remote work. The College was required to abide by state of California and Alameda County Public 

Health requirements prior to approving plans for bringing employees and students back to in-person instruction.  

Students met their academic requirements for the 2019 to 2020 academic year.  Restrictions on the student housing 

have had the most significant impact to revenues. The College refunded $873,000 of student room and board 

charges after March 17, 2020, when the College ceased on-campus instruction. 

For the majority of the 2020-21 academic year most instruction was conducted virtually. While some faculty and 

staff worked on-campus to ensure continuity of essential operations, most faculty and staff continued remote 

work.  Regular in-person instruction and campus operations resumed, commencing with the Fall 2021 semester, 

with some online instruction continuing. Staff have returned to campus, although many continue to work remotely 

a few days a week.  
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To date, the College has been awarded a total of $5,807,215 in emergency funding under this program with 

$2,624,721 earmarked to go directly to students in the form of emergency financial aid. grants to cover expenses 

related to the disruption of campus operations due to COVID-19, and $3,182,494 provided to the College to offset 

costs associated with significant changes to the delivery of instruction and to cover lost revenue due to COVID-19. 

The College distributed $868,592 and $266,990 of the direct student award funds for the years ended June 30, 

2021 and 2020, respectively. Additionally, the College applied $1,693,357 and $0, of the institutional award 

allocation towards eligible COVID-related impacts for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.   The 

College has recognized grant revenue of $2,561,949 and $266,990 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively, as a result of the federal funding received, and is included in government contracts and grants in the 

accompanying statements of activities. The remaining balance of $2,978,276, composing of $1,489,139 in student 

emergency aid and $1,489,137 of institutional funds, will be used in fiscal year 2022 for eligible expenses.  

The pandemic has impacted the College’s operations during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2021. It is not 

possible for the College to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects 

on its business or results of operations for fiscal year 2022.  The extent of future impacts will depend on future 

developments including, but not limited to, the duration of the outbreak, effects on financial markets, and overall 

economic impacts. 
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Federal

Assistance Listing Federal

Number Expenditures

Student Financial Assistance Cluster

U.S. Department of Education

Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant 84.007 141,876$           

Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 7,732,413          

Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 45,978               

Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 1,242,205          

Federal Pell Grants 84.063 1,402,593          

Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster 10,565,065        

Education Stabilization Fund

U.S. Department of Education

COVID-19 - Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund 

Student Portion and Institutional Portion 84.425 E, F 2,561,949          

Total COVID-19 - Education Stabilization Fund 2,561,949          

TRIO Cluster

U.S. Department of Education

Upward Bound - Classic UB - Renewal 84.047A 931,631             

Upward Bound - Contra Costa County Renewal 84.047A 339,698             

Upward Bound - Small Schools Renewal 84.047A 318,510             

Talent Search 84.044A 360,104             

Total TRIO Cluster 1,949,943          

U.S. Department of Education

Direct Awards:

Improvement of Elementary Fractions Instructions 84.305 408,250             

Total U.S. Department of Education 15,485,207        

Research and Development Cluster

National Science Foundation

Preparing and Diversifying STEM Leaders (SURPASS) 47.076 33,809               

Oak Urban Teacher Residency 47.076 274,277             

UCB UG Data Science 19-24 47.076 38,379               

Total Research and Development Cluster 346,465             

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 15,831,672$      

Agency Program Title
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Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the federal award activity 

of Mills College (the “College”) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2021. The 

information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 

Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the 

College, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the 

College. 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 

recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures 

are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.  

The College has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 

The College did not pass through any awards to subrecipients for the year ended June 30, 2021.  

NOTE 2 – FEDERAL PERKINS LOAN PROGRAM 

Loans outstanding at the beginning of the year and loans made during the year are included in the federal 

expenditures presented in the Schedule. There were no new loans during the year ended June 30, 2021. The 

balance of loans outstanding at June 30, 2021, was $1,071,530.  
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Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control over 

Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 

Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 

Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Trustees 

Mills College 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Mills College (the 

“College”), which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, and the related 

statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 

statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 17, 2021. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the College’s internal 

control over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control. 

Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 

misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 

timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 

with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 

weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the College’s financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 

material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 

provisions was not an objective of our audit, and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 

results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 

reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 

compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

San Francisco, California 

December 17, 2021 
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Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance for Each 

Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over 

Compliance Required by Uniform Guidance  

To the Board of Trustees 

Mills College 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Mills College’s (the “College”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 

described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the 

College’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2021. The College’s major federal 

programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of 

findings and questioned costs. 

Management's Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 

conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the College’s major federal 

programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted 

our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code 

of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 

Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct 

and material effect on each major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test 

basis, evidence about the College’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major 

federal programs. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the College’s 

compliance. 
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the College complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 

referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for 

the year ended June 30, 2021. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the College is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 

compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 

audit of compliance, we considered the College’s internal control over compliance with the types of 

requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 

auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance 

in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the College’s internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 

federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 

or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 

not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 

over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with 

a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 

internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 

governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 

paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 

compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 

we identified a deficiency in internal control over compliance, as described in the accompanying schedule 

of findings and questioned costs as Finding 2021-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency.  

The College’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is described 

in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The College’s response was not 

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 

opinion on the response.  

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 

testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 

the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
San Francisco, California 

December 17, 2021 
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Schedule of Audit Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether 
the financial statements audited were  
prepared in accordance with GAAP: Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  Yes  None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes  No 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over the major federal program: 

• Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes  No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  Yes  None reported 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be  
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?  Yes  No 

Identification of major federal programs and type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major federal 
program: 

Federal Assistance 

Listing Numbers 
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

Type of Auditor’s Report Issued on 

Compliance for Major Federal Programs 

Various 

Various 

TRIO Cluster  

COVID-19 - Education Stabilization Fund 

Unmodified 

Unmodified 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B 
programs: $ 750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  Yes  No 

 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

None reported 
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Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

 
FINDING 2021-001 – REPORTING: SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

Federal Assistance 

Listing Numbers 

Federal Agency/Pass-through 

Entity – Program Name 

Award 

Number 

Award 

Year 

Questioned 

Costs 

84.425 E, F COVID-19 - Education Stabilization 

Fund 

N/A 2020-2021 $0 

Criteria: The U.S. Department of Education (ED) directs each school to submit quarterly reports, in a time and 

manner required by the ED. ED has developed the Quarterly Budget and Expenditure Reporting form that the 

College must use to satisfy the quarterly Institutional Portion reporting. 

The form must be conspicuously posted on the College’s school primary website on the same page the reports of 

the College’s activities under the Student Aid Portion are posted. A new separate form must be posted covering 

each quarterly reporting period (September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30), concluding after the College 

has expended and liquidated all (a)(1) Institutional Portion, (a)(2), and (a)(3) funds and checks the “final report” box. 

All schools must post this quarterly report form no later than 10 days after the end of each calendar quarter    

(October 10, January 10, April 10, July 10) apart from the first report, which was due October 30, 2020, and the 

report covering the first quarter of 2021, which was due July 10, 2021.  

Condition/Context: For the year ended June 30, 2021, the College filed four Institutional Portion Quarterly Budget 

and Expenditure Reporting forms. We selected all for testing and noted that two (related to the quarters ended 

March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021) were posted to the College’s website after the required posting deadline.  

Effect: Reporting requirements of the awards were not met timely. 

Cause: The College was not aware of the reporting timelines as the ED did not affirmatively indicate this reporting 

requirement was in place for Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund II, Coronavirus Response and Relief 

Supplemental Appropriations Act funds. As more guidance was provided and the procedures were identified, the 

College completed the remaining two quarterly reports. 

Repeat finding: This is not a repeat finding. 

Recommendation: We recommend that management adopt a timeline based on the information set out in the 

guidance to ensure that reporting requirements are met.  

Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: Management agrees with the recommendation 

and plans to put in place procedures to remain in compliance with reporting timeliness. 
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Schedule of Financial Responsibility Ratios  
As of and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Section 498(c)(1) of the Higher Education Act authorizes the secretary for the U.S. Department of Education (“ED”) 

to establish ratios and other criteria for determining whether an institution has sufficient financial responsibility. 

Section 668.172 established a methodology based on three ratios—primary reserve, equity, and net income—that 

measure different aspects of financial health and are combined into a composite score to measure financial 

responsibility. Several mathematical steps are required to combine an institution's ratio results into a composite 

score: 

• Determine the value of each ratio; 

• Calculate a strength factor score for each ratio using the appropriate algorithm; 

• Calculate a weighted score for each ratio by multiplying the strength factor score by its corresponding 

weighted percentage; and 

• Add the weighted scores to arrive at the composite score. 

Institutions receiving a composite score of 1.5 or greater are considered financially responsible. An institution that 

fails the financial responsibility standards may continue to participate in Title IV programs under provisional 

certifications for three years. To continue to participate in Title IV programs under provisional certification, an 

institution will be required to provide surety to ED of 10 percent or more of its previous year’s Title IV funding, as 

determined by ED. 

The source for each balance below has been referenced to either the statement of financial position (SOFP), 

statement of activities (SOA), statement of cash flows (SCF), or a specific footnote, except for the following: 

The following tables provide a breakdown of total non-operating revenue and other gains (without donor restriction), 

board designated quasi-endowments with donor use restrictions, and remainder interest in split interest agreements 

for the year ended June 30, 2021: 

 

Reference

Total non-operating revenue and other gains (without donor restriction)

Nonoperating contributions SOA 26,500$             

Other nonoperating revenue SOA 253                    

Net assets released from donor restrictions for nonoperating SOA 11,275,981        

Total non-operating revenue and other gains (without donor restriction) 11,302,734$      

Reference

Board designated quasi-endowments with donor use restrictions

Term endowments with donor restrictions n/a 55,108$             

Other with donor restrictions n/a 139,406             

Total designated quasi-endowments with donor use restrictions Note 11 194,514$           

Reference

Remainder interest in split interest agreements

Annuities with donor restrictions n/a 861,264$           

Other with donor restrictions n/a 12,612,213        

Total remainder interest in split interest agreements Note 11 13,473,477$      

 
  



Mills College 

47 

Schedule of Financial Responsibility Ratios (Continued)  
As of and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Primary Reserve Ratio Calculation Reference

Net assets without donor restrictions SOFP 64,091,751$       

Net assets with donor restrictions SOFP 239,077,256       

Total net assets 303,169,007       

Less:

Annuities with donor restrictions * (861,264)             

Term endowments with donor restrictions * (55,108)               

Life income funds with donor restrictions n/a -                      

Net assets with donor restrictions: restricted in perpetuity Note 11 (157,047,583)      

Net assets with donor restrictions: other for purpose or time n/a -                      (81,113,301)       

Secured and unsecured related party receivables n/a -                      

Unsecured related party receivables n/a -                      

Unsecured other related party assets n/a -                      

Property, plant and equipment - pre-implementation (includes capital leases if applicable) Note 7 (95,006,130)        

n/a -                      

n/a -                      

Construction in progress n/a -                      

Lease right-of-use asset pre-implementation n/a -                      

Lease right-of-use asset post-implementation n/a -                      

Intangible assets n/a -                      

Add:

Post-employment and pension liabilities n/a -                      

Long-term debt for long term purposes pre-implementation Note 10 24,253,909         

Long-term debt for long term purposes post-implementation n/a -                      

Line of credit for construction in progress n/a -                      

Pre-implementation right-of-use lease liabilities n/a -                      

Post-implementation right-of-use lease liabilities n/a -                      

Total expendable net assets 74,452,831$       

Total expenses without donor restrictions SOA 64,106,511         

Add:

Non-operating and net investment losses SOA (9,255,675)          

Other components of net periodic pension costs n/a -                      

Change in value of split-interest agreements n/a -                      

Other losses SOA (188,179)             

Net investment losses n/a -                      

Pension - related changes other than net periodic costs n/a -                      

Total expenses without donor restrictions and losses without donor restrictions 54,662,657$       

Primary reserve ratio 1.4                      

*See reconciliation above depicting reference back to the notes to the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment - post-implementation with outstanding debt for original  

  purchase (includes capital leases)

Property, plant and equipment - post-implementation without outstanding debt for original 

  purchase

 

June 30, 2021 

 
 



Mills College 

48 

Schedule of Financial Responsibility Ratios (Continued) 
As of and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Equity Ratio Calculation Reference

Net assets without donor restrictions SOA 64,091,751$       

Net assets with donor restrictions SOA 239,077,256       

303,169,007       

Less:

Lease right-of-use assets pre-implementation n/a -                      

Intangible assets n/a -                      

Unsecured related-party receivables n/a -                      

Unsecured related-party other assets n/a -                      

Add:

Pre-implementation right-of-use lease liabilities n/a -                      

Modified net assets 303,169,007$     

Total assets SOFP 350,121,466$     

Less:

Lease right-of-use assets pre-implementation n/a -                      

Intangible assets n/a -                      

Unsecured related-party receivables n/a -                      

Unsecured related-party other assets n/a -                      

Modified assets 350,121,466$     

Equity ratio 0.9                      

Net Income Ratio Calculation Reference

Change in net assets without donor restrictions SOA (6,477,317)          

Total operating revenue, gains, and other support without donor restrictions SOA 55,770,314         

Add:

Investment return appropriated for spending (without donor restriction) n/a -                      

Non-operating revenue and other gains (without donor restriction) ** 11,302,734         

Total revenue and gains without donor restrictions 67,073,048$       

Net income ratio (0.1)                     

**See reconciliation above depicting reference back to the statement of activities. 

 

June 30, 2021 

 For the year ended 

June 30, 2021 
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Schedule of Financial Responsibility Ratios (Continued) 
As of and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Step 1: Calculate the strength factor score for each ratio by using the following algorithms:

Primary Reserve strength factor score = 10 x the primary reserve ratio result

Equity strength factor score = 6 x the equity ratio result

Negative net income ratio result: Net Income strength factor = 1 + (25 x net income ratio result)

Positive net income ratio result: Net income strength factor = 1 + (50 x net income ratio result)

Zero result for net income ratio: Net income strength factor = 1

If the strength factor score for any ratio is greater than or equal to 3, the strength factor score 

for the ratio is 3.

If the strength factor score for any ratio is less than or equal to -1, the strength factor score 

for the ratio is -1.

Step 2: Calculate the weighted score for each ratio and calculate the composite score by adding the three 

  weighted scores

Primary Reserve weighted score = 40% x the primary reserve strength factor score

Equity weighted score = 40% x the equity strength factor score

Net Income weighted score = 20% x the net income strength factor score

Composite Score = the sum of all weighted scores

Round the composite score to one digit after the decimal point to determine the final score

RATIO DESCRIPTION Ratio

Strength 

Factor Weight

Composite 

Scores

Primary Reserve Ratio 1.4                3.0                40% 1.2                

Equity Ratio 0.9                3.0                40% 1.2                

Net Income Ratio (0.1)               (1.0)               20% (0.2)               

Composite Score 2.2                

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2021

 
 



 

 
 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
 
Mill College 
Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 
Period Covered by the Prior Audit: July 1, 2019 – June 30, 2020 
Name of Audit Firm: Crowe LLP 
 
There were no prior audit findings noted.  
 



Corrective Action Plan 

Name of Auditee: Mills College  
Period Covered by the Audit: July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 
Name of Audit Firm: Moss Adams LLP 

Finding 2021-001 – Reporting: Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Compliance 

Views of Responsible Officials and Corrective Action Plan: Management acknowledges and concurs 
with this finding and is developing additional procedures to ensure compliance with reporting 
timeliness, anticipated to be completed in fiscal year 2022.

Name of Responsible Person: Maria Cammarata, Vice President of Finance and Administration



 

 




